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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

February 2006 Grand Jury

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

V.

CHARLES ELLIOTT FITZGERALD,

aka
aka
aka
aka

Charles E. Fitzgerald,
Elliott Fitzgerald,
Elliot Fitzgerald,
C. Elliott Fitzgerald,

Defendant.

The Grand Jury charges:

JDM: jdm

[18 . § 371: Conspiracy;

18 U.S.C. § 1344 (1): Bank Fraud;
18 U.S.C. § 1014: Loan Fraud;

18 U.S.C. § 225: Continuing
Financial Crimes Enterprise;

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a) (1) (B) (i):
Concealment Money Laundering;

18 U.S.C. § 1503: Obstruction Of
Justice;

18 U.S.C. § 2: Aiding And
Abetting And Causing An Act To
Be Done]
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INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

I. SUMMARY OF THE FRAUD

1. Beginning no later than November 1999, and continuing
through at least June 2003, defendant CHARLES ELLIOTT FITZGERALD,
also known as ("aka") Charles E. Fitzgerald, aka Elliott
Fitzgerald, aka Elliot Fitzgerald, aka C. Elliott Fitzgerald, and
his partner in a Beverly Hills mortgage brokering company,
working with their employees, a mortgage banker, real estate
agents, real estate appraisers, a title officer, and others,
perpetrated a scheme to defraud federally-insured lenders out of
tens of millions of dollars by obtaining fraudulently inflated
loans on expensive homes in exclusive California communities.

II. THE LENDERS AND THEIR LOAN PRODUCTS

A. Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB

2. From no later than 1999 through at least 2003, the
accounts and deposits of Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB ("Lehman")
were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

3. From no later than 1999 through at least 2003, Lehman
made loans directly‘to home buyers and also bought home loans
from other lenders after the other lenders initially funded them.
Lehman had a lending agent called Aurora Loan Services
("Aurora"). As Lehman's lending agent, Aurora established
criteria to be applied for Lehman to fund or purchase home loans,
and approved or rejected home loan applications.

4, From no later than 1999 through at least 2003, Aurora
received loan application packages from correspondents and

mortgage brokers, among other sources. Correspondents were




O 00 N N bW e

N N NN NN N NN e e e e e e e e e
0 3N v R W= DO O 00NN R,WNN RO

Case 2:06-cr-00977-DDP  Document 21 ° Filed 03/29/2007 Page 5 of 54

generally mortgage bankers who gathered information from
prospective borrowers and sent loan application packages to
Aurora for review. After Aurora approved the loans and Lehman
committed to buy them, the correspondents funded the loans
initially and then immediately sold them to Lehman. Mortgage
brokers also gathered information from prospective borrowers and
sent loan application packages to Aurora for review, through
Aurora's mortgage broker division known as Broker Funding
Solutions ("BFS"). After Aurora approved loan applications sent
by mortgage brokers, Lehman funded the loans and paid commissions
to the mortgage brokers.

5. From no later than 1999 through at least 2003, Aurora
offered no-document home loans up to $1,500,000. Home buyers
applying for no-document home loans generally did not have to
disclose their income, employment, assets, or tax returns.
Aurora's requirements for no-document home loans varied according
to the amount of the loan. For no-document home loans between
$650,000 and $1,500,000, Aurora set the following general
conditions, among others:

a. The loan-to-value ratio ("LTV") could not exceed
60%. That meant that the amount of the loan could not exceed 60%
of the value of the home. Aurora calculated the value of the
home as the lesser of the home's purchase price or appraised
value.

b. Two independent appraisals of the home, completed

by state-certified appraisers, had to be sent to Aurora.
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c. The borrower had to have superior credit and live

in the home as the borrower's primary residence.

6. From no later than 1999 through at least 2003, Aurora
also offered limitea—document home loans up to $4,000,000.
Home buyers applying for limited-document home loans generally
had to disclose their income, employment, and assets, but not
their tax returns. Aurora's requirements for limited-document
home loans varied according to the amount of the loan. For
limited-document home loans between $1,500,000 and $4,000,000,

Aurora set the following general conditions, among others:

a. The LTV could not exceed 65%.
b. Two independent appraisals of the home, completed

by state-certified appraisers, had to be sent to Aurora.
C. The borrower had to have superior credit.

B. Pacific Guarantee Mortgage Company

7. From no later than 1999 through at least 2003, Pacific
Guarantee Mortgage Company ("Pacific Guarantee") made loans to
home buyers. Pacific Guarantee was a subsidiary of Prism
Mortgage Company ("Prism"). In about April 2002, Prism changed
its name to RBC Mortgage Company.
III. DEFENDANT CHARLES ELLIOTT FITZGERALD AND HIS CO-CONSPIRATORS

A. The Mortgage_ Brokers

8. In about 1995, co-conspirator Mark Alan Abrams and
others started Desert Pacific Financial, Inc. ("DPF"), a mortgage
brokering company in Palm Desert, California. Abrams was
President of DPF. Abrams moved DPF to Irvine in about 1996 or

1997, and then to Beverly Hills by no later than about February
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or March 2000. DPF sent loan application packages to lenders for
review and funding. DPF did not itself fund loans, but received
commissions from lenders when loans closed.

9. In the 1990s, defendant FITZGERALD was a residential
real estate developer in Southern California. In late 1999 or
early 2000, defendant FITZGERALD became Abrams' business partner
in DPF. Together, defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams expanded into
residential real estate development and also continued to send
loan application packages to lenders. In or about late 2001,
defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams began operating their mortgage
brokering company under the name Beverly Hills Estates Funding,
Inc. ("BHEEF"™).

10. Over time, defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams separately
or together came to control various trusts, partnerships, and
corporations (the "DPF/BHEF-related entities"). One of the main
DPF/BHEF-related entities controlled by defendant FITZGERALD and
Abrams was PTD Partners, LLC ("PTD Partners"). Defendant
FITZGERALD was the general partner of PTD Partners. The limited
partners were the CTR Irrevocable Trust and the DPF Irrevocable
Trust. Defendant FITZGERALD controlled the CTR Irrevocable
Trust. Abrams controlled the DPF Irrevocable Trust. Beverly
Hills Development Corporation ("BHDC") was another
DPF/BHEF-related entity controlled by defendant FITZGERALD.

11. From no later than 1999 thrdugh at least June 2003,
co-conspirators Nicole LaViolette and Jamieson Todd Matykowski
worked at DPF/BHEF. LaViolette was a loan processor who assisted

borrowers in gathering documents and completing forms, sent loan
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application packages to lenders on behalf of borrowers, and
responded to lenders' requests for additional information about
proposed home loans. Matykowski's responsibilities included
scouting homes for potential purchase and development.
LaViolette and Matykowski reported to defendant FITZGERALD and
Abrams.

B. The In-House Escrow Officer

12. By early 2000, defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams opened
Platinum Escrow, a DPF/BHEF in-house escrow company in Beverly
Hills. Defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams later opened additional
DPF/BHEF in-house escrow companies, including Estates Escrow in
Beverly Hills. From no later than 1999 through at least June
2003, co-conspirator Timothy Holland, who had been working for
defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams as a loan processor, was the
in-house escrow officer for Platinum Escrow, Estates Escrow, and
the other DPF/BHEF in-house escrow companies controlled by
defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams. Holland reported to defendant
FITZGERALD and Abrams.

C. The Mortgage Banker

13. From no later than 1999 through at least 2003, "the
Correspondent Company"” was a mortgage banking company with
offices on the Westside of Los Angeles and in Pasadena,
California. The Correspondent Company originated, brokered,
funded, and sold home loans. "The Correspondent Conspirator" was
a co-founder of and original partner in the Correspondent
Company. From no later than 1999 through at least November 2000,

the Correspondent Conspirator held a 45% partnership interest in
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the Correspondent Company.

14. From no later than June 1999 through at least January
2001, the Correspondent Company sent loan application packages to
Aurora for review. After Aurora approved the loans and Lehman
committed to buy them, the Correspondent Company funded the loans
initially and then immediately sold them to Lehman.

15. In or about December 2000 and January 2001, Prism
bought the Correspondent Company aﬁd made it a new division of
its subsidiary Pacific Guarantee. Prism, through Pacific
Guarantee, continued to operate the Correspondent Company as a

mortgage banking company. The Correspondent Conspirator became

the President of the new division of Pacific Guarantee.

16. Even after Prism bought the Correspondent Company, the
Correspondent Company continued to send loan application packages
to Aurora for review. After Aurora approved the locans and Lehman
committed to buy them, Prism funded the loans initially and then
immediately sold them to Lehman.

D. The Appraisers

17. From 1999 through 2003, "Appraiser Conspirator 1" and
"Appraiser Conspirator 2" were real estate appraisers based in
Orange County, California. Appraiser Conspirators 1 and 2 were
licensed by the State of California Office of Real Estate
Appraisers. To obtain and maintain their licenses, Appraiser
Conspirators 1 and 2 each had to pass an examination and meet
certain educational, training, and experience requirements
established by California law and by the Appraiser Qualifications
Board of the Appraisal Foundation.
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18. Appraiser Conspirator 1 had a Certified Residential
License from the State of California, which generally permitted
the appraiser to appraise all residential properties from one to
four units. Appraiser Conspirator 2, however, had only a
Residential Licenée, which generally permitted the appraiser to
appraise only non-complex residential properties from one to four
units, up to a transaction value of $1,000,000. For properties
with transaction values higher than $1,000,000, Appraiser
Conspirator 2 was required to work with or obtain the concurrence
of a Certified Residential Licensed appraiser.

IV. OVERVIEW OF THE CRIMINAL CONDUCT

19. Defendant FITZGERALD, Abrams, Métykowski, real estate
agents, and others located homes for sale on which the
conspirators could obtain inflated loans. ' Defendant FITZGERALD,
Abrams, and others working for them also recruited straw
borrowers -- people with superior credit to serve as the named
borrowers to obtain the inflated loans. In many cases, defendant
FITZGERALD and Abrams agreed to pay the straw borrowers. The
straw borrowers agreed that defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams would
take control of the homes, through the DPF/BHEF-related entities.

20. Defendant FITZGERALD, Abrams, Matykowski, and their
co-conspirators made offers to purchase the homes from the
original sellers at their true market values. Around the same
time, Appraiser Conspirators 1 and 2 provided inflated appraisals
of the homes to defendant FITZGERALD, Abrams, and their

employees.

10
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21. Defendant FITZGERALD, Abrams, LaViolette, the
Correspondent Conspirator, and others sent false and fraudulent
loan application packages to the victim lenders. The loan
application packages included false and inflated purchase
contracts and the inflated appraisals. Some loan application
packages also included false and altered credit reports and false
asset verifications for the straw borrowers. The loan
application packages falsely made it appear that individual
borrowers with superior credit were buying the homes for millions
of dollars more than their true purchase prices. In reality,
defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams were buying the homes at their
true market values. |

22. The false and fraudulent loan application packages
specified that DPF/BHEF in-house escrow companies would serve as
the escrow agents for the home purchases. As the in-house escrow
officer, Holland falsified escrow instructions and settlement
statements and sent the false escrow documents to the victim
lenders.

23. Relying on the false information in the loan
application packages, the victim lenders funded loans for the
inflated purchases. Because the packages contained false and
fraudulent information, the victim lenders did not know that the
locans were actually far higher than the true purchase prices of
the homes.

24. After the original sellers and their mortgages were
paid off, the conspirators took the millions of dollars of excess

loan proceeds as profit. Defendant FITZGERALD and Abrams got

11
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millions of dollars and control of the homes. The Correspondent
Conspirator got hundreds of thousands of dollars in kickbacks.
Appraiser Conspirators 1 and 2 got hundreds of thousands of
dollars in inflated appraisal fees. LaViolette, Matykowski, and

Holland got salaries, bonuses, commissions, and other benefits.

12
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COUNT ONE
[CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FEDERAL OFFENSES]
[18 U.S.C. § 371]
25. The Grand Jury hereby repeats and re-alleges paragraphs
1-24 of this First Superseding Indictment.

I. THE OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

26. Beginning no later than November 1999, and continuing
through at least June 2003, in Los Angeles County, within the
Central District of California, and elsewhere, defendant CHARLES
ELLIOTT FITZGERALD, aka Charles E. Fitzgerald, aka Elliott
Fitzgerald, aka Elliot Fitzgerald, aka C. Elliott Fitzgerald,
knowingly and unlawfully combined, conspired, and agreed with
Mark Alan Abrams, the Correspondent Conspirator, Appraiser
Conspirators 1 and 2, Nicole LaViolette, Jamieson Todd
Matykowski, Timothy Holland, and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, to commit the following offenses against the United
States:

a. To commit bank fraud, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1344(1), by knowingly and with intent
to defraud, executing and participating in a scheme and artifice
to defraud Lehman and other federally-insured financial
institutions (collectively, "the victim lenders") as to material
matters; and

b. To commit loan fraud, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1014, by (i) knowingly making false
statements and reports, and (ii) willfully overvaluing land,

property, and security, for the purpose of influencing the

13
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